Design and Implementation of High Performance Pipelined SAR ADC for Wireless Communications

by

Xin Jin

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Auburn University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Auburn, Alabama May 1, 2021

Keywords: Successive-approximation-register (SAR), Analog-to-Digital Converter (ADC), Pipelined SAR ADC, Dual-Residual ADC

Copyright 2021 by Xin Jin

Approved by

Fa Foster Dai, Chair, Professor of Electrical and Computer Engineering Richard C. Jaeger, Committee Member, Professor of Electrical and Computer Engineering Guofu Niu, Committee Member, Professor of Electrical and Computer Engineering Ujjwal Guin, Committee Member, Professor of Electrical and Computer Engineering

Abstract

As the process keeps scaling down, successive approximation register (SAR) architecture becomes an attractive candidate in low-power, moderate-speed A/D converter (ADC) due its mostly digital operation. For high speed application, pipelining and SAR are combined to further improve the speed. As the bottleneck in traditional pipeline ADC, the associated residue generation and amplification continues to be extensively researched to achieve higher resolution.

This work presents a dual-residue pipelined successive approximation register (SAR) A/D converter (ADC) architecture that relaxes the accuracy requirement for residue amplifications to fully utilize the benefits of power efficiency and technology scalability based on zero-crossing (ZX) only signals. The dual-residue architecture is illustrated with design of an 11b two-step pipelined ADC consisting of 8b coarse and 5b fine (with 2b over-range) SAR sub-ADCs, which resolve 2b and 1b per SAR conversion cycle, respectively. Two ZX signals (or dual-residues) in opposite polarities automatically available in each 2b SAR cycle are sampled and held at the end of the coarse conversion for use as the full-scale (FS) reference for the fine SAR that quantizes a fixed input of zero. An on-chip foreground offset calibration circuit is proposed and implemented to correct the offset mismatch in the dual residues. Simulation and measurement results are provided to demonstrate the operation and performance of the proposed ADC architecture.

This work also discussed the continuous time analog low pass filter which is usually placed in front of ADC to prevent aliasing. Operational transconductance-C filter and active-RC filter are explored and designed. The simulation and measurement results are provided to demonstrate the functionality and performance.

Acknowledgments

There are a lot of people who I need to appreciate along the way of this journey. It is their support and effort which made this dissertation possible. First, I would like to thank my advisor Professor Fa Foster Dai for providing the opportunity for me to work on this project. His guidance, continuous support and encouragement on this research are invaluable. I also would like to thank Dr. Pan for his precious insights, discussion and efforts spent on this research topic to help me reach my goal. My gratitude extends to the committee members - Professor Jaeger, Professor Niu, Professor Guin and Professor Wilamowski, Professor Zhongyang Cheng, their plentiful experience and great feedback are vital on my research work. I would say thanks to the team members worked together on this project in RFIC design lab, Zhan Su, Haoyi Zhao and Yiming Fan. It has been my privilege working with such a hardworking and talented group of people. Finally, my appreciation also goes out to my friends and family for their endless support through my studies.

Table of Contents

Abstractii
Acknowledgmentsiv
List of Tablesvii
List of Figures
List of Abbreviationsxii
Chapter 1 Introduction
1.1 Background and Motivation1
1.2 Organization of the dissertation
Chapter 2 Overview of Pipelined SAR ADC
2.1 Overview of SAR ADC
2.2 Pipelined SAR ADC
Chapter 3 Dual Residue Pipelining
3.1 Dual Residue Introduction and Extension10
3.2 Dual Residue Error Due to Circuits Non-idealities
Chapter 4 Architecture of Proposed Zero-Crossing Based Dual Residue Pipelined SAR ADC 21
4.1 Architecture Overview and Operation
4.2 Coarse 8b SAR ADC
4.3 Dual Residue Generation and Interstage Over-range
4.4 Pipeline Stage
4.5 Sub 5b SAR ADC
Chapter 5 Circuit Implementation

5.1 Coarse SAR CDAC Array with Capacitor Splitting
5.2 Auxiliary CDAC
5.3 Residue Amplifiers
5.4 Comparators
Chapter 6 Offset Calibration Design and Implementation
6.1 Offset Calibration Overview
6.2 Dual Residue Offset Calibration Scheme
6.3 Dual Residue Offset Calibration Procedure
Chapter 7 Simulation and Measurements Results
7.1 Simulation Results
7.2 Measurement Results
7.3 Summary 60
Chapter 8 Anti-Aliasing Low Pass Filter
8.1 Introduction
8.2 Design of 6 th Order Low Pass Inverse-Chebyshev Active-RC Filter
8.3 Design of 5 th Order Fully Differential CMOS Transconductance-C Low Pass Filter
Chapter 9 Conclusion and Future Work
9.1 Conclusion
9.2 Future Work
Bibliography

List of Tables

Table 1 Device sizes of T&H schematic as shown in figure 6.6	. 40
Table 2 Device sizes of comparator schematic as shown in figure 5.7	. 42
Table 3 Pipelined ADC Performance Comparison	. 62
Table 4 Device sizes of LC prototype as shown in figure 8.1	. 65
Table 5 Performance summary of the proposed 6th order inverse-Chebyshev LPF	.71
Table 6 Performance summary of 5th order low pass Butterworth prototype	. 79

List of Figures

Figure 2.1 A 4bit quantization binary searching process	5
Figure 2.2 Simplified block diagram of SAR ADC	5
Figure 2.3 An implementation of 4bit CDAC	6
Figure 2.4 Simplified diagram of 2b/cycle SAR ADC (a) and 3b/cycle SAR ADC (b)	8
Figure 2.5 Conceptual diagram of two stage pipelined SAR	9
Figure 3.1 The schematic of an interpolation based dual-residue ADC [23]	11
Figure 3.2 The residue signals in the first two stages of the sub-ADCs	12
Figure 3.3 Dual residue ADC architecture extended to use SAR sub-ADCs	13
Figure 3.4 A transfer function example of the nonlinear pipeline stage - $v2_0$ error vs. $v1_a$	15
Figure 3.5 ZX error for the given nonlinearity show in figure 3.4	16
Figure 3.6 ZX error vs v1 _a due to gain mismatch	18
Figure 3.7 Noise contribution factor vs v1 _a	19
Figure 3.8 ZX error due to offset mismatch	20
Figure 4.1 The proposed zero-crossing based dual residue pipelined SAR ADC	22
Figure 4.2 The block diagram of the coarse 8b SAR ADC	23
Figure 4.3 Coarse quantization thresholds generated in each conversion cycle for a given	input
sample $v_x = V_s$	24
Figure 4.4 ZX error due to reference incomplete settling (a) and comparator offset misma	tch and
noise (b) during coarse ADC conversion	27
Figure 4.5 The block diagram of the pipeline stage	28

Figure 4.6 The block diagram of the 5b sub SAR ADC
Figure 4.7 The timing diagram of the proposed ADC
Figure 5.1 CDAC setting in traditional 8b SAR 2b/cycle switch scheme after initialization 33
Figure 5.2 CDAC setting in traditional 8b SAR 2b/cycle after MSB conversion
Figure 5.3 CDAC setting in the proposed 8b SAR 2b/cycle after initialization
Figure 5.4 CDAC setting in the proposed 8b SAR 2b/cycle after MSB conversion
Figure 5.5 The coarse CDAC capacitor top-plate initial connections to the references (0 for Vrefl
and 1 for Vrefh) and the connection transitions for each conversion cycle given the same input
sample vx=Vs as shown in figure 4.3
Figure 5.6 Schematic of the interstage residue T&H amplifier
Figure 5.7 Schematic of the comparator with offset calibration capacitor array
Figure 6.1 Flow chart of offset calibration procedure
Figure 6.2 Use resistor ladder to calibrate the offset in inter-stage
Figure 6.3 Use auto-zeroing amplifier to calibrate the offset in inter-stage
Figure 6.4 Use added offset calibration DAC (Cal. DAC) to calibration inter-stage offset 47
Figure 6.5 Residue offset calibration illustrated for signal path b
Figure 6.6 Timing diagram of residue offset calibration for signal path b
Figure 7.1 ADC prototype layout
Figure 7.2 Power consumption breakdown (mW)
Figure 7.3 Typical-corner output spectra from Monte-Carlo simulations of the prototype ADC
running at 400 MS/s with (a) Nyquist input before offset calibrations, (b) after comparator
calibrations, (c) after residue offset calibrations, and (d) low frequency input after all
calibrations. Device random mismatch and thermal noise are included in the simulations 54

Figure 7.4 Typical-corner DNL and INL from Monte-Carlo simulations of the prototype ADC
after offset calibration
Figure 7.5 Temperature dependence of (a) the typical-corner SFDR and SNDR, (b) residue
gain, and (c) residue offset from Monte-Carlo simulations. The foreground residue offset
calibrations are simulated at 50°C
Figure 7.6 SFDR and SNDR of ADC prototype vs. (a) input frequency with supply variation,
sampling rate at 400MS/s, (b) sampling frequency
Figure 7.7 ADC prototype die photo
Figure 7.8 Measured DNL (a) and INL (b) of ADC prototype
Figure 7.9 Measured ADC spectrum with near Nyquist input before (a) and after (b) foreground
offset calibration , and low input frequency after foreground offset calibration (c) with sampling
rate 250MS/s
Figure 7.10 Measured ADC SNDR versus sampling frequency (a), input frequency (b) and input
amplitude (c)
Figure 8.1 The ladder prototype (a) and the signal-flow-graph of the ladder prototype (b) 65
Figure 8.2 Voltage on net X and its effect on (a) Σ_1 , (b) Σ_2 and (c) Σ_3
Figure 8.3 Combine path a and path b to a single path a+b67
Figure 8.4 The modified signal-flow-graph of the ladder prototype (a), the schematic of the
proposed 6 th order low pass filter (b)
Figure 8.5 Simplified diagram of proposed fast tuning circuit
Figure 8.6 The bode diagram of proposed op-amp and traditional op-amp70
Figure 8.7 Figure 8.7 Simplified diagram of proposed fast tuning circuit

Figure 8.8 The ladder prototype (a) and the active realization (b) of fully differential 5th order
Butterworth filter
Figure 8.9 Transconductance-C filter using (a) constant gm topology, (b) constant C topology73
Figure 8.10 Tunable transconductance cell topology76
Figure 8.11 Schematic of unit gm cell77
Figure 8.12 Die photo of the 5th order low pass filter78
Figure 8.13 Measured frequency response of the 5th order low pass filter
Figure 8.14 Measured IIP3 of the 5th order low pass filter

List of Abbreviations

ADC	Analog to digital Converter	
SAR	Successive approximation register	
ZX	Zero-crossing	
DAC	Digital to analog converter	
CDAC	Capacitive digital to analog converter	
RA	Residue Amplifier	
ZCD	Zero-crossing detection	
DA	Dynamic amplifier	
FS	Full scale	
ENOB	Effective Number of Bits	
INL	Integral Non-Linearity	
DNL	Differential Non-Linearity	
SFDR	Spurious Free Dynamic Range	
SNR	Signal to Noise Ratio	
SNDR	Signal to Noise and Distortion Ratio	
SINAD	Signal to Noise and Distortion	
FET	Field Effect Transistor	
MOS	Metal Oxide Semiconductor	
CMOS	Complementary Metal Oxide Semiconductor	

FoM	Figure of Merit
LSB	Least Significant Bit
MSB	Most Significant Bit
DFF	D-Flip-Flop
LPF	Low Pass Filter
SFG	Signal-Flow-Graph

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Background and Motivation

As pipelining [1-3] being widely used in SAR ADCs to overcome the speed and resolution bottlenecks [4-22], issues associated residue generation and amplification for high-resolution (\geq 10b) pipelined ADCs come back to plague SAR ADC designs; and as a result, power efficient and technology friendly residue amplifiers (RA) continue to be a focus of research. In the past, zero-crossing detection (ZCD) based RAs [23-24] were explored to eliminate the need for accurate and power-hungry settling of closed loop op-amps. Recently, open-loop dynamic amplifiers (DA) [16] and inverter-based ring-amps [26] have become popular for minimizing RA power consumption and improving technology scalability, where residue gain calibration and reference sharing across pipeline stages are used to align the residue full scale (FS) with the succeeding fine quantization FS.

This work employs a dual-residue architecture where the alignment is automatic. The first attempt in this direction was made with an interpolation based dual-residue architecture [23]23], within where the fine quantizations are carried out with interpolations between two adjacent coarse residues of opposite polarities. Since the difference of the dual residues determines the fine interpolation range, the residue FS and fine quantization FS are inherently aligned irrespective of the residue gain as long as it is the same for the two residues. Gain mismatch between the dual residues causes signal-dependent variation in the residue difference and should be limited within

one LSB of the fine quantization. Even though this matching requirement can be readily met with integrated-circuit RA replicas for identical residue inputs, it imposes a challenge to the RA linearity as the two RA inputs could differ by as much as the ADC input FS. It is for this reason that the dual-residue architecture has not gained the expected popularity, though it was revisited recently for design of a calibration-free pipelined ADC [24].

Fortunately, the linearity issue can be mitigated using coarse SAR sub-ADCs that can generate arbitrarily small residues with increasing SAR cycles. Based on this important observation, dual-residue SAR ADC architectures have been proposed [27-29]. This work details the design and operation principles using an 11b two-step pipelined dual-residue ADC as example that removes both the accuracy and linearity bottlenecks for residue amplification.

1.2 Organization of the Dissertation

The remainder of the dissertation is organized as follows. The overview of the ADC architecture is presented in Chapter 2, where the basic building block of SAR ADC are explained, it also briefly discussed pipelined SAR ADC and its limitations. Chapter 3 introduces the dual residue concept and addresses how it can be extended into SAR ADC operation, a high-level analysis of the impact on the dual residues from non-idealities including noise, nonlinearity, gain mismatch and offset mismatch are illustrated. Based on such foundation, in Chapter 4, a ZX based dual residue pipelined SAR ADC architecture is proposed and presented. Chapter 5 details the implementation of the proposed ADC, the sub blocks including coarse ADC, pipeline stage and sub ADC are illustrated. A proposed switch scheme which benefits the SAR operation in the coarse ADC is also explained. Chapter 6 addressed the offset correction and detailed the implementation of an automatic calibration loop. Chapter 7 demonstrated a 400MS/s 11b ADC prototype in 45nm

SOI CMOS based on simulation results and measurement results of a 250MS/s 10b ADC prototype in 45nm SOI CMOS. Chapter 8 presents the design of low-pass filter which can be used as antialiasing filter for sampling system. Chapter 9 summarized this work and proposed future work.

Chapter 2 Overview of Pipelined SAR ADC

2.1 Overview of SAR ADC

To convert an analog signal to digital codes, an N bit ADC needs to sample the signal first and then quantize the signal based on 2^{N-1} uniformly distribution thresholds with its size determined by full scale. Each threshold corresponding to one digital code. The searching for signal and its closet thresholds is called quantization. For a conventional SAR ADC, the quantization process is done by binary searching as shown (use 4bit as an example) in figure 2.1, the full scale is defined by the $2V_{ref}$ and the searching process begins by comparing the input V_X and the half thresholds which is at the middle – 0, it finds out the input is lower than the threshold and then generates 1 as the most significant bit (MSB) and continues to the next search at ¹/₄ of FS at 0.5V_{ref} and generate 0, the process then repeats two times and resolves the rest bits. As clearly shown in the figure 2.1, there is still a small Δ after the least significant bit (LSB) is resolved and it is called quantization error or residue. The residue is due to fact that the ADC resolution is finite and for an N bit ADC it should be less than V_{FS}/2^N which is equal to the size of LSB.

The building blocks of SAR ADC is shown in figure 2.2, the input signal V_X is sampled by the sampling switch and held as V_s seen by the Capacitive DAC (CDAC), a SAR logic controls the CDAC and generates the voltage V_1 that is the difference between V_s and 0 (assume the



Figure 2.1 A 4bit quantization binary searching process

middle threshold is 0 in the 1^{st} cycle), V_1 is then sent to the comparator and generates 1 or 0 which is used by the SAR logic to generate the next threshold, the process repeats as mentioned above until all the bits are resolved.



Figure 2.2 Simplified block diagram of SAR ADC

The CADC is one of the key building blocks in SAR ADC and a 4bit implementation for bottom plate sampling is shown in figure 2.3. The input V_x are connected to the CDAC top plate by multiple switches and the sampling is done by switching off the switches controlled by Φ_1 . The signal is sampled across the capacitors and it appears at the bottom plate by switching the reference switches connected to V_{refh} and V_{refl} to reference common mode meaning half of the capacitor weighting is connected to V_{refl} and other half is connected to V_{refh} .



Figure 2.3 An implementation of 4bit CDAC

The CDAC consists of an array of capacitors, the smallest cap C_{unit} has the weighting of 1x and the other caps has the weighting of 2x, 4x and 8x. This radix 2 weighting arrangement allows the SAR ADC to perform binary search by toggling the reference switches connection through the SAR logic whose control is given based on the output of comparator.

One bit is resolved in each cycle when using one CDAC in traditional SAR ADC. To speed up the conversion, multiple CDACs [31] can be employed to generate evenly distributed ZX signals at the same time. For N bit/cycle conversion, 2^N-1 comparators are also needed in order to detect the ZX signals in parallel. As shown in figure 2.4(a), a minimum of two CDACs are needed to achieve 2b/cycle conversion, the two CDACs generate their corresponding ZX signals directly and the middle ZX signals can be derived from the interpolation of them. Similarly, a 3b/cycle SAR needs a minimum of four CDACs as shown in figure 2.4(b), seven comparators are used to resolve the ZX signals simultaneously. In theory, more bits/cycle can be done by utilizing more CDACs and comparators. But the exponential growth of power and area makes them less attractive and often impractical in implementation when more than 3b/cycle is needed.



(a)



Figure 2.4 Simplified diagram of 2b/cycle SAR ADC (a) and 3b/cycle SAR ADC (b)

2.2 Pipelined SAR ADC

Pipelining **Error! Reference source not found.**[1-3] has always been a method to increase the conversion speed of ADC and it has been employed recently to enhance the throughput of SAR ADCs as well [4-22]. Figure 2.5 shows a conceptual diagram of the two-stage pipelined SAR ADC. The input V_x is sampled to coarse stage SAR ADC1, after the it finished its conversion the residue V_1 is amplified by RA stage and feed into the substage SAR ADC2. The SAR ADC2 repeats the same SAR operation and resolve the rest LSBs. The timing required the two stage SARs and the amplification time required by RA are often designed to balanced. With the help of gain provided by RA stage, the design requirement of SAR ADC2 is often relaxed.



Figure 2.5 Conceptual diagram of two stage pipelined SAR

There are three variables involved in this design, the reference voltage of SAR ADC1 which defines the full scale of coarse stage, the gain of the RA and the reference voltage of SAR ADC2. Since its operation is similar to traditional pipeline ADC, the residue V_2 needs to be accurate before passing to the next stage, which indicates the alignment needs to be done among those stages. This alignment is usually achieved by high gain high bandwidth op-amp, trimming and complex calibration [1,19]. The additional residue signal processing compromises the SAR ADC advantages in power efficiency, design simplicity, and technology portability.

Chapter 3 Dual Residue Pipelining

3.1 Dual Residue Introduction and Extension

Residues are ideally linear zero-crossing (ZX) signals $v_i(v_x - V_i)$ [30] that cross zero ($v_i = 0$) when the input v_x equals the quantization threshold V_i with the ZX slope equal to the residue gain A, i.e., $v_i = A^*(v_x - V_i)$. For an n-bit dual-residue ADC with N+1 quantization thresholds V_i ($i = 0, 1, ..., N = 2^n$) the interpolation starts (as shown in Fig. 1) with generation of the two extreme ZX signals

$$v_{10} = A^*(v_x - V_{refl})$$
 (3.1)

and

$$v_{1N1} = A^*(v_x - V_{refh})$$
 (3.2)

by two replica RAs in the n1-bit first stage (N1 = 2^{n1}), where the ADC reference voltages $V_{refl} = V_0$ and $V_{refh} = V_N$ set the ADC input full-scale FS = $V_{refh} - V_{refl}$. By resistive interpolation between v1₀ and v1_{N1}, the ZX signals v1_j (j = 1, 2, ..., N1 – 1) for the coarse quantization are generated at

the (N1– 1) taps across the first stage resistor string. The polarities of the ZX signals $v1_j$ are detected in



Figure 3.1 The schematic of an interpolation based dual-residue ADC [23]



Figure 3.2 The residue signals in the first two stages of the sub-ADCs

parallel with regenerative latches for a given input sample $v_x = V_s$ to identify the string section that contains the zero of the first-stage string voltage v1. The two identified ZX signals, $v1_b = v1_j$ and $v1_a = v1_{j-1}$ that encompass the zero are amplified by the second stage RAs to drive the second stage string for fine quantization. The interpolated fine ZX signals $v2_k$ (k = 1, 2, ..., N2 – 1, where N2 = 2^{n2}) and the fine dual residues $v2_a$ and $v2_b$ are generated in the second stage for the third-stage interpolation and quantization, and so on.

The first-stage RA (RA1) output must meet the highest (n-bit full resolution) linearity requirement over the full-scale input range. The second-stage linearity requirement can be relaxed by increasing the coarse resolution (n1), but to a limited extent constrained by the exponential growth in complexity, power, and input capacitance of the parallel interpolation based coarse sub-ADC. The RA linearity requirement and coarse sub-ADC complexity tradeoff can be avoided in principle using serial interpolation for efficient coarse quantization. This is possible based on an important observation that the flash-type sub-ADC stages in figure 3.1 can be black-boxed and substituted with any other types such as SAR ADCs as shown in figure 3.2, where the fine residues are generated by serial interpolations between the references for each stage. The first stage sub-ADC takes input signal v_x with the references connected to external sources. Starting the 2nd stage, the sub-ADC inputs are set to zero while the reference pins are connected to the dual residue outputs of the preceding stage.

In figure 3.2, the required dual residues are readily available from the three parallel ZX signals generated for the 2b/cycle conversion [29]. The costly RAs in the first stage of figure 3.1 are now replaced with two fixed voltage reference buffers without linearity requirement. The RA overheads of the following stages are drastically reduced by increasing the number of coarse SAR cycles so that the dual residues are arbitrarily small and linear without worsening the coarse sub-

ADC complexity. As for the last stage without the need to generate the dual residues, a 1b/cycle SAR is better choice, because only one comparator offset needs to be calibrated. The INL degradation by coarse comparator offsets can be avoided by over-ranging the succeeding fine stage.



Figure 3.3 Dual residue ADC architecture extended to use SAR sub-ADCs

With the RA accuracy and linearity bottlenecks both removed, the pipelined dual-residue SAR ADC preserves the ZX-only operation and power efficiency of SAR ADCs. In addition, sub-ADCs operating in different signal domains can be exploited with little concern about the accuracy of signal conversions, say, from the voltage to the time domain [32] and vice versa. The resulted sub-ADC modularity thus opens a new dimension for design of pipelined ADCs.

3.2 Dual Residue Error Due to Circuits Non-idealities

As mentioned in Chapter 2.2, for a traditional pipelined SAR ADC the residue needs to be accurate in terms of absolute value. The ZCD based operation dual residue pipelined SAR relaxed

the absolute residue accuracy by relying on the matching between the two residues. In the real implementation, the matching can degrade due to circuit non-idealities including nonlinearity of buffering, amplification, gain mismatch, noise and offset mismatch [23-24]. The residue generation and the interpolation in SAR is fairly accurate due to its mostly digital operation and the inherent decent linearity comes with the properly sized CDAC. The pipeline stage as shown in figure 3.8 usually dominates those error sources because of the usage of active devices.

To evaluate the impact comes from the nonlinearity the transfer function of the pipeline stage can be generalized as

$$v2_0 = \alpha_1 v 1_a + \alpha_3 v 1_a^{\ 3} \tag{3.3}$$

$$v2_{N2} = \alpha_1 v1_b + \alpha_3 v1_b^{\ 3} \tag{3.4}$$

where $v1_a$, $v1_b$ and $v2_0$, $v2_{N2}$ are the input and output correspondingly, α_1 and α_3 are the coefficient associated with the fundamental and third order harmonics, the 2nd order is not considered here because of the differential operation, higher order harmonics is not considered since their contribution is low thanks to the substantial reduction of residue amplitude by 8-bit of coarse SAR. Another assumption is the non-linear characteristics are the same between the two RA1s and RA2s since their designs are identical.



Figure 3.4 A transfer function example of the nonlinear pipeline stage - v20 error vs. v1a

The ZX based operation relaxed the linearity requirement of RA1 and RA2 as illustrated below. Figure 3.4 shows an example of a transfer function example of the output nonlinear behavior of pipeline stage for a 5b sub ADC, assuming the proposed ADC coarse stage only uses +/- 4 LSBs so the input range of pipeline stage is from 8-LSB to 24-LSB as shown below, the output of pipeline stage produces 1 LSB error. And the error grows to 2.5 LSB when the full range is used. The ZX location can be derived by comparing the ideal case to the condition defined by Eq. (3.4) and (3.5), the ZX error in LSB can be described as

$$\Delta ZX = \frac{-\frac{\alpha_3}{\alpha_1} v \mathbf{1}_a [(v \mathbf{1}_a - v \mathbf{1}_b)^2 - 3(v \mathbf{1}_a - v \mathbf{1}_b) v \mathbf{1}_a + 2v \mathbf{1}_a^2]}{\mathbf{1} + \frac{\alpha_3}{\alpha_1} (v \mathbf{1}_a^2 + v \mathbf{1}_a v \mathbf{1}_b + v \mathbf{1}_b^2)}$$
(3.5)

Based on Eqs. (3.5) the ZX error can be observed in figure 3.5, as clearly shown in the figure, the max error becomes less than 0.25 LSB when the input is in the same nominal input range as described previously.



Figure 3.5 ZX error for the given nonlinearity show in figure 3.4

The ZX error also shows some interesting characteristics, the error becomes zero when the input is at its extreme ZX location -0, 32 LSBs and in the middle code -16 LSB. This can be understood intuitively, when the input is at either side of the boundary, the linearity is dictated by the AMP which imposes the largest weighting in the interpolation. Thus, the linearity is very good given the smallest input at those conditions. When the ZX location is in the middle, both amplifiers produce exactly the same nonlinearity since the amplitude to both amps are the same (only the polarity is the opposite), therefore the ZX location is still in the middle at the output which gives zero error.

Another ZX error can come from pipeline stage is the gain mismatch between two residues, the gain mismatch can be expressed as shown below by Eqs. (3.6) and (3.7)

$$v2_0 = \alpha_1 (1 + G_\Delta) v1_a \tag{3.6}$$

$$v2_N = \alpha_1 (1 - G_A) v1_b \tag{0.3}$$

where G_{Δ} is the gain mismatch, the ZX error due to gain mismatch can be derived as

$$\Delta ZX = \frac{-2G_{\Delta} v \mathbf{1}_{a} v \mathbf{1}_{b}}{[(1+G_{\Delta})v \mathbf{1}_{a} - (1-G_{\Delta})v \mathbf{1}_{b}](v \mathbf{1}_{a} - v \mathbf{1}_{b})}$$
(3.8)

Based on the Eqs. (3.8) the ZX error vs ZX input $v1_a$ is shown in figure 3.6 for 5% mismatch case, the gain error generates a DC component that doesn't contribute non-linearity in the final ADC output thus it is removed from the plot. For amplifier with 5% gain mismatch the 5b sub ADC will generate error larger than 1LSB if only one amplifier is used and the error goes down to less than 0.6LSB in interpolation-based operation.



Figure 3.6 ZX error vs $v1_a$ due to gain mismatch

Since the noise of two amplifiers are uncorrelated, the noise from the two amplifiers have different impact on the ZX location compared to the influence on absolute value from a single amplifier. The impact can be express as in Eqs. (3.9) and in figure 3.7.

$$NC = \frac{v \mathbf{1}_a^2 + v \mathbf{1}_b^2}{(v \mathbf{1}_a - v \mathbf{1}_b)^2}$$
(3.9)



Figure 3.7 Noise contribution factor vs $v1_a$

As show in figure 3.7, the noise contribution factor is halved when the input is in the middle simply because half of the noise averaged out when the weighting from two amplifier are identical. When the ZX is in the extreme locations, the noise contribution factor is 1 because the weighting from the other amplifier is zero and the ZX sees the whole noise generated from one amplifier.

The offset mismatch (differential offset) also needs to be considered as it directly moves the ZX location. Assume v_{os} is the differential offset between amplifiers in the pipeline stage the output can be expressed as

$$v2_0 = \alpha_1 v 1_a + v_{os} \tag{3.10}$$

$$v2_N = \alpha_1 v1_b - v_{os} \tag{3.11}$$

The ZX error can be derived as in Eqs. (3.12) and assumes 2LSB differential offset and error is shown in figure 3.8.

$$\Delta ZX = \frac{-v_{os}(v_{1a} + v_{1b})}{(v_{1a} - v_{1b})(v_{1a} - v_{1b} + 2v_{os})}$$
(3.12)

The ZX error is zero when the input in the middle as the interpolation weighting from the two amplifiers are identical such that the differential offsets moves the ZX to the opposite direction by the same amount. The error grows as the input moves away from the center as the offset contribution from one amplifier starts to dominate. The first amplifier in the pipeline usually contribute most of the offset as the following stage contribution can be attenuated by first stage gain. Sizing up the first amplifier input transistor reduces the offset mismatch, but the area occupation could become unrealistic to achieve the accuracy needed in the proposed ADC. A calibration scheme discussed in Chapter 6 addressed this issue.



Figure 3.8 ZX error due to offset mismatch

Chapter 4 Architecture of Proposed Zero-Crossing Based Dual-Residue Pipelined SAR ADC

4.1 Architecture Overview and Operation

The proposed zero-crossing based dual-residual pipelined SAR ADC architecture [29][29] and the operation timing is shown in figure 4.1. It consists of three stages, the first stage is 2b/cycle 8b SAR ADC and it can readily generate dual residues at the end of the conversion because the usage of two CDACs - CDAC_a and CDAC_b. The 2nd stage is the pipeline stage which is used to sample the dual residues available at the coarse ADC CDACs and hold it for the conversion in the next stage, the pipeline stage has two of amplifiers AMP₁and AMP₂, between the two amplifiers there are the sampling switch and sampling capacitors. The 3rd stage is the sub-range ADC consists of a 1b/cycle SAR, the input of this SAR ADC is the differential zero which represents the ZX location. The references are the output of AMP₂ in pipeline stage and SAR operation of this stage will perform the interpolation of the references to locate the ZX location.



Figure 4.1 The proposed zero-crossing based dual residue pipelined SAR ADC

4.2 Coarse 8b SAR ADC

The coarse ADC is the first stage of the pipelined ADC and it needs to meet the overall linearity and noise requirement of the entire ADC. The block diagram of the coarse ADC is shown in figure 4.2. The SAR ADC architecture is chosen as the first stage due to its power efficient operation since it resolves the input by performing ZX searching in digital fashion. For better linearity performance the coarse ADC tracking switch is bootstrapped [36] and bottom plate sampling is used to remove the signal dependent charge injection as it is a common limitation of linearity from top plate sampling. Two identical capacitor DACs, CDAC_a and CDAC_b – CDAC_a and CDAC_b are used so the dual residues

can be generated automatically at the end of the conversion. With the help two CDACs, two bits can also be resolved in each conversion as long as three thresholds can be generated during conversion. The first and third thresholds are readily available at each of the CDAC, CMP1_b and



Figure 4.2 The block diagram of the coarse 8b SAR ADC

 $CMP1_a$ are used to detect the ZX of those two thresholds. The third threshold can be extracted by feeding the single ended signal with opposite polarity from each CDAC and it will be detected by the CMP1.

The operation of the coarse 8b SAR ADC is the following, during track phase ($\Phi 1 = 0$) as shown in figure 4.2 the S_{1e} and S_{1t} are closed to allow CDAC_a and CDAC_b to track the differential input signal $v_x = v_{ip} - v_{in}$. To perform bottom plate sampling the switches S1e are opened slightly earlier than the input top-plate switch S1t, the sampled signal v_x is then held at the CDACs. In the



Figure 4.3 Coarse quantization thresholds generated in each conversion cycle for a given input sample $v_x = V_s$

coarse conversion phase B ($\Phi 1 = 0$), the CDAC_a and CDAC_b top plates are switched to either reference voltage V_{refl} or V_{refh} to generate the CDAC output ZX signal samples, on CDAC_a V1_a = $-(V_s - V_{ja})$ is generated where on CDAC_b it is V1_b = $-(V_s - V_{jb})$, V_{ja} and V_{jb} are the quantization thresholds produced by the CDAC during the j-th conversion cycle as shown in Figure 4.3. The quantization thresholds are generated by the connecting to references through the top-plate switches, the exact thresholds are determined by the corresponding CDAC weighting formed in
such connections. As mentioned previously, the third threshold also needs to be generated to perform 2b/cycle conversion and the third ZX sample $V1_{ab} = -(V_s - V1_j)$ is interpolated from v1a and v1b as shown in Figure 4.2. The three comparators cmp1a, cmp1b, and cmp1 detect the polarities of the corresponding ZX samples at the end of each 2b conversion cycle and determine the CDAC top-plate reference connections for the next cycle ZX sample generation. As shown in figure 4.3 after four cycles (j = 1 to 4) of conversion 8b are resolved as the MSBs and are retimed to the registers.

4.3 Dual Residue Generation and Interstage Over-range

After the coarse SAR enters cycle j = 5 in phase C ($\Phi_1 = 0$, $\Phi_2 = 1$) as shown in figure 4.3 the ZX samples V1_a and V1_b are generated as the dual residues for fine quantization. Noticed to generate V1_a and V1_b the coarse SAR doesn't need to move any reference switches as they appear naturally at the two CDACs top plate at the end of the cyc. j = 4. The rest LSBs can be determined by interpolating between V1_a and V1_b, before they are sampled and converted in the sub-range ADC, a 2b over-ranging is introduced to correct errors during the coarse ADC conversion. The errors can be corrected by this over-range are the reference settling error, comparator kickback and random comparator offsets which are discussed next.

Even though the coarse SAR only needs to resolve 8b and ZX accuracy still needs to meet 11b requirement since the signal is not amplified before sampling. During coarse ADC conversion, the activities of reference switches inevitably introduce transient spikes or glitches due to circuits non-idealities such as parasitics on switches and finite bandwidth of reference buffers. Those are error sources and need to be settled and settling is determined by the finite switch resistance and the CDAC size it is driven. To achieve less than half LSB error for an N-bit resolution ADC, it can be calculated as

$$e^{-\frac{t}{\tau}} \le \frac{1}{2^{N+1}}$$
 (4.1)

where τ is the time constant derived from switch resistance and CDAC size, it is clearly that t needs to be at least (N+1) * $\tau \ln(2)$. For high speed SAR operation, after reference switches are toggled the comparator needs to make the decision as soon as possible to speed up the conversion, thus very little time is allocated between the switch event and the firing of comparator.

Thus, if the comparator decision is made based on incomplete reference settling the resolved ZX location could be wrong. In the example shown in figure 4.4(a), after the reference switch event at t_1 , the reference was kicked and introduces some settling behavior shown during t_{r1} and generates wrong ZX value if comparator clock t_2 is triggered during this time region, this error will settled out in t_{r2} but this settling time could last too long which will have bigger impact on conversion speed, in real design, t_2 is often chosen to be close the end of t_{r1} and before t_{r2} to speed up conversion, therefore the decision is often erroneous.

Due to FET non-idealities, the devices in comparator are usually mismatched and thus presents an input referred offset usually dominate by comparator input stage as shown in figure 4.4(b). Unlike the incomplete settling error in references which eventually settles out, the offset directly applied to the signal. For 1/cycle SAR ADC, the offset only introduces a DC shift and is generally considered harmless. But for 2b/cycle or multi-bit per cycle SAR ADCs, multiple comparators are running in parallel during each conversion, the offset mismatch among those comparators can lead DNL errors, this error can be minimized by equipping offset calibration

circuits. As mentioned previously, the coarse ADC needs to meet 11b accuracy, the design and implementation of such calibration circuits become impractical. Another error from comparator input stage is the noise as shown in figure 4.4(b). Same as offset, the noise directly applied to the input signal and corrupt the ZX location, and power and input devices size could be way too large if the comparators noise needs to be designed to meet the 11b ADC requirement. For bottom-plate sampling ADC, larger comparator input device size also means bigger attenuation of input signal and thus degrades SNR.



Figure 4.4 ZX error due to reference incomplete settling (a) and comparator offset mismatch and noise (b) during coarse ADC conversion

To tackle those challenges, a 2b over-range is introduced in cyc j = 5 as shown in figure 4.3. This extends the fine quantization FS from 8 LSBs to 32 LSBs, where one LSB = $2(V_{refh} - v_{refl})/2^{11} \sim 0.6$ mV for the 11b prototype. This is realized by offsetting the ZX points that define the fine FS by -12 LSB and +12 LSB, respectively. The offsets are injected with a small auxiliary CDAC in each of CDAC_a and CDAC_b. As a result, total tolerance for the coarse comparator offsets and the coarse CDAC incomplete settling increases by 24 LSBs or +/-6 mV. The offset mismatch between the two residue paths is corrected with auxiliary CDACs to be described in Chapter 6.



Figure 4.5 The block diagram of the pipeline stage

4.4 Pipeline Stage

The pipeline stage consists of sampling switches and capacitors, two stage of amplifiers AMP1 and AMP2 as shown in figure 4.5. The AMP1 received the V1_a and V1_b during sub ADC track phase D ($\Phi_2 = 1$) as shown in figure 4.7. The hold switch S₁₂ is turned on and the amplified dual residues are stored on capacitor C_h. And then the S₁₂ is turned off and the residues are held on C_h and get buffered/amplified to v2₀ and v2_{N2} to the sub-range ADC. The gain of the AMP1 will help to relax the following stage design such as noise and offset. An EN signal allows the AMP1 to enter power down mode when not in use when $\Phi_2 = 0$ to save power. AMP2 mainly serves as buffer stage to provide driving strength to the following stage and also provides extra gain to further relax the design of sub ADC.

4.5 Sub 5b SAR ADC

The LSBs from dual residues $v2_0$ and $v2_{N2}$ can be resolved by searching the ZX and the SAR architecture is also the best candidate here due to its low power operation to perform interpolation. During sub ADC track phase D ($\Phi_2 = 1$), the fine CDAC_f top plates and bottom plates connected to a differential ground $V2_{CM}$ and zero respectively, the reference switches are open and other sides are connected to $v2_0$ and $v2_{N2}$ as shown in figure 4.6. $V2_{CM}$ is set to match the AMP2 output CM to avoid CM jump at CMP_f input eliminating the need for low-impedance CM voltage source. The 1b/cycle fine conversion phase E ($\Phi 2 = 0$) starts as $\Phi 2$ falls, with the fine references $v2_0$ and $v2_{N2}$ sampled by S_{12} and held by C_h . Simultaneously, the CDAC_f split-cap top plates are switched to $v2_0$ and $v2_{N2}$ by half and half, respectively, generating the first-cycle fine ZX signal $v2 = v2_1(v1 = 0) = -(0 - V2_1)$ at the CDAC_f bottom plate output, where $V2_1 = (v2_0 + v2_{N2})/2$ is the first fine quantization threshold. The fine CDAC_f split caps from 0 to 1 or 1 to 0 for fine

MSB = 0 or 1, respectively, generating the ZX signal for the second cycle conversion. This continues till the 5 fine bits are all resolved and the next tracking phase of the fine SAR starts.



Figure 4.6 The block diagram of the 5b sub SAR ADC



Figure 4.7 The timing diagram of the proposed ADC

Chapter 5 Circuit Implementation

5.1 Coarse SAR CDAC Array with Capacitor Splitting

One of the major building blocks in the coarse 8b SAR ADC is the differential CDAC. During the coarse ADC conversion, different thresholds are formed by switching the reference switches which consumes dynamic power and may introduce settling issues. Figure 5.1 shows the traditional 8b SAR with 2b/cycle CDAC setting when initialized during track phase. Two identical CDACs are used to generate three thresholds by different switch configuration. The single-ended CDAC consists of 256-unit caps due to 8b quantization level requirement.

To illustrate the way to generate three thresholds in conversion the entire CDAC is break into 4 Groups as indicated by Group 1, Group 2, Group 3 and Group 4. After initialized the caps in CDAC_a in the Group 1 are connected to opposite polarity (in this example it is '1') of the rest caps differentially as shown in figure 5.1. The caps in CDAC_b are initialized to the complementary configuration. The thresholds are generated as 128/256, -128/256 and 0 which is produced by interpolating between two CDACs. The MSB conversion is done by comparing the thresholds and the input using three comparators. The three comparators generate three outputs which in return to control each 64X of caps in Group 1 to prepare the next conversion. In the given example the cap switch configuration after MSB is shown in figure 5.2. By examining the switch configuration, it is clearly that in order to prepare the next conversion the Group 2 caps also need to be toggled to complete the thresholds generation. The way the caps switched in Group 2 follows exactly the how the 64X caps are switched in Group 1 during initialization.



Figure 5.1 CDAC setting in traditional 8b SAR 2b/cycle switch scheme after initialization

This switching activity usually creates two problems, the first problem is the waste of switching energy and it can be intuitively seen that part of the caps switched to '1' position while other caps switched to '0'. The charge transfer involved is the summation of both switching activity but the threshold change on CDAC is the net voltage change of them. The other problem it creates is often more detrimental. The toggling of the cap switches is often not aligned by design or due to layout constraints and it generate glitches when switching up ('1') and down ('0') are not

happened at the same time. Depends on the threshold change, it introduces overshoot or undershoot which might move the threshold in the opposite direction during CDAC voltage settling and it will create conversion error if the comparator is fired too soon. For high speed SAR ADC, the comparator is asynchronously clocked at very high speed and this problem is often more pronounced. There are a few ways to correct this error by introducing redundancy during conversion, however it is better to minimize this error and budget the redundancy to other nonidealities in SAR which are harder to correct.



Figure 5.2 CDAC setting in traditional 8b SAR 2b/cycle after MSB conversion



Figure 5.3 CDAC setting in the proposed 8b SAR 2b/cycle after initialization

The shortcoming mentioned above can be mitigated by extending the 1b/cycle split-cap scheme [33] to 2b/cycle operation and presetting the caps properly. The proposed the CDAC capacitor array is shown in figure 5.3. Compare to the traditional 2b/cycle setting, one of the three identical caps in each group is split in weight with 1:3 ratio as shown in the solid box. The preset of those caps is labelled as '1' or '0'. Since the "0" connection state of each split capacitor in CDAC_b is compensated with the same total weight of "1" connection states in the subsequent groups on the right-hand side, each group effectively has all the three connections preset to "1", and all the subsequent groups amount to one "0" connection. Therefore, each group in CDAC_b



Figure 5.4 CDAC setting in the proposed 8b SAR 2b/cycle after MSB conversion

generates a threshold at ³/₄ of the subrange for the corresponding cycle. Similarly, the same CDAC_a group generates a threshold at ¹/₄ of subrange due to the initial complementary connections. The midpoint threshold at ¹/₂ subrange is generated by interpolation of the CDAC_a and CDAC_b outputs. Upon sampling of the differential input, CDAC_a and CDAC_b top-plate connections are switched from the input to the preset initial state shown in figure 5.3. The cap switches connection after MSB conversion is shown in figure 5.4. With such configuration each group is only responsible for one conversion since the rest of the CDAC will generate threshold automatically by their preset value. The total amount of charge transfer is greatly reduced not only because the switching of split capacitors causes less charge transfer but also because switching happens only once at most for each capacitor. This also guarantees the monotonic threshold generation and significantly reduces the chance of decision error. An example of the complete 8b conversion is shown in figure

5.5, the group numbers are now corresponding to cycle $j = 1 \sim 4$ since caps involved in each cycle is constrained in each group. The connection state of the three identical capacitors (including the split capacitor) in each group is switched to equal the three comparator outputs ($d_b d_{ab} d_a$) or ($d_a d_{ab} d_b$) for CDAC_a or CDAC_b, respectively, at the end of the corresponding cycle.

To meet the 11b kT/C noise requirement for ADC FS = 1.2 Vppd, the total capacitance of CDAC_a and CDAC_b is chosen to be 500fF (single-ended) each. Implemented with MOM capacitors, the CDAC is large enough to ensure 11b matching precision.



Figure 5.5 The coarse CDAC capacitor top-plate initial connections to the references (0 for Vrefl and 1 for Vrefh) and the connection transitions for each conversion cycle given the same input sample vx=Vs as shown in figure 4.3

5.2 Auxiliary CDAC

A 2b over-range is introduced to perform error correction and it is done by adding a small auxiliary DAC (Aux. DAC) on each of the single-ended CDAC. The Aux. DAC consists of a 3X capacitor added at the LSB end of the capacitor array (figure 5.3). The Aux. DAC decreases the full scale (FS) of ADC by ~1.2% which has negligible impact on SNR. Normally the Aux. DAC toggles in the opposite direction between CDAC_b and CDAC_a to 'enlarge' the output sub range by a conversion completion flag. In the proposed design, the 3X capacitor connection state is preset to "1" in CDAC_b and "0" in CDAC_a such that 24 LSB (3X8) extra threshold or over-range is automatically generated between the CDAC_a and CDAC_b output residues after the completion of 4-cycle coarse conversion. Thus, the residues can be generated as early as possible and minimize the settling time required by the pipeline stage. To compensate for the 3X capacitor impact on the coarse conversion, some capacitors for cycle 4 are also preset, as shown in the dashed boxes in figure 5.3 - figure 5.5. As a result, the total capacitance preset to 1 and 0 remains differentially unchanged for both CDACs.

5.3 Residue Amplifiers

To highlight the architecture benefits, simple open-loop switched-capacitor amplifier circuits that scale well with technology are utilized without aggressive circuit-level power minimization. The residue T&H amplifier schematic is shown in figure 5.6. To help relaxing the following stage design the coarse residues are amplified. Since the coarse SAR significantly shrank the residues (given peak-peak differential (ppd) residue = $4*FS / 2^8 < 20$ mV), the first stage of the amplifier AMP1 is designed with a simple differential pair with resistive loading which can easily achieve the linearity requirement for the following stages. It provides 5X gain and generate less than 100 mVppd to the sample and hold circuits consists of open-loop switched capacitor (S₁₂)

and C_h). The second stage of the amplifier AMP2 has 3.5X gain which further amplifies the residue to 350 mVppd. In addition, a source follower output stage drives CDAC_f for fast settling and for CM lowering that allows CDAC_f top plates to be switched with simple NMOS FETs. AMP2 is source degenerated for extra margin in residue linearity. The size and currents are scaled as shown in figure 5.6 to meet the 11b input referred noise requirement. The S_{2t} (figure 5.6) is able to tolerate the bigger voltage swing than S12 because CDAC_f driven by the residue amplifier source followers settles much faster in the conversion phase E than C_h in the track phase D.

As a result of the residue amplification, the inter-stage hold capacitor C_h and the sub range fine SAR CDAC_f can adopt very small capacitance of 30fF and 40fF respectively. In the hold phase while the coarse SAR is doing conversion, the S'₁₂ is closed to short the AMP1 output to better isolate the activities from the coarse SAR switching activities. The bias of AMP1 is turn off by Φ_2 when not in use to save power.

The gain mismatch between the two residues causes INL error in sub range ADC. To achieve better than 5b gain matching, the bias circuits for two AMP1s and two AMP2s are shared and the device sizes are chosen to meet the requirement based on Monte-Carlo simulation.

A foreground calibration loop to be described in Chapter 6 cancels the amplifier input referred offset for 11b accuracy.

39



Figure 5.6 Schematic of the interstage residue T&H amplifier

Device	Parameters	Unit
R ₁ , R ₂	2.5k	Ω
R ₃ , R ₄	4.5k	Ω
R ₅	1.7k	Ω
M ₁ , M ₂	W = 30; L = 0.112	μm
M ₃ , M ₄	W = 14; L = 0.112	μm
M ₅ , M ₆	W = 14; L = 0.56	μm
I ₁	240	μΑ
I ₂ , I ₃	80	μΑ
I4, I5	100	μΑ

Table 1 Device sizes of T&H schematic as shown in figure 5.6

5.4 Comparators

High speed SAR operation relies heavily on the speed of the comparators. Dynamic comparator gains a lot of popularity in the high-speed design and it doesn't consume static power. It consists of preamp stage followed by a cross-coupled latch. Usually there are two configurations to build the dynamic comparator, strongArm comparator which has the stack the preamp and latch in the same branch which has the benefit of higher speed but is more challenge to optimize other parameters, the other type of the comparator is double tail dynamic latch [34] which provides higher flexibility in term of trading off the noise, speed and kickback. It also suitable for low supply due to its folded architecture, however, the speed is compromised due to two stage operation. Because of the high speed and power efficiency, the strongArm comparator is chosen in this prototype. The three coarse comparators and the fine comparators are using the same strongArm dynamic latch with the schematic and transistors sized as shown in figure 5.7 and Table 2 to meet 1mVrms noise target. A foreground comparator offset calibration using capacitors attached to the input pair differential nodes [35] reduces the comparator offset from 25 mV (3σ) to 2.5 mV. The coarse SAR comparator offsets and noise do not cause ADC output error because they are all within the fine quantization over-range of +/-6 mV, where the extra margin covers incomplete settling of the coarse CDACs. The fine comparator noise and calibrated offset are negligible given the >10X residue gain.



Figure 5.7 Schematic of the comparator with offset calibration capacitor array

Device	Parameters	Unit
M ₁ , M ₂	W = 5.2; L = 0.56	μm
M ₃ , M ₄	W = 2.6; L = 0.56	μm
M ₅ , M ₆	W = 2.6; L = 0.56	μm
M ₇	W = 2.4; L = 0.4	μm

Table 2 Device sizes of comparator schematic as shown in figure 5.7

Chapter 6 Offset Calibration Design and Implementation

6.1 Offset Calibration Overview

An automatic foreground offset calibration loop is designed to correct the 1) offset in coarse and fine SAR comparators and 2) dual residue offset in inter-stage T&H amplifiers. As mentioned in Section 4.4, the offset in comparator is calibrated through a small cap array. The calibration is performed by going through binary successive approximation process and the cap control codes are save in a 7b register. Upon the completion of the first calibration, the fine comparator is ready to be used in dual residue offset correction and the second calibration starts, this calibration repeated for signal path a and signal path b with shared control logic. The details will be discussed in next section. The flow chart for the calibration procedure is shown in figure 6.1.

6.2 Dual Residue Offset Calibration Scheme

For a 1b/cycle SAR conversion, DC offset is of less concern because it only creates a DC shift which reduces the dynamic range. But for 2b/cycle conversion the impact of the DC offset is different and can be categorized into two parts, common mode offset and differential mode offset. The common mode part of the offsets in the dual residues only lead to a DC shift just like the case



Figure 6.1 Flow chart of offset calibration procedure

in 1b/cycle. However, this DC shift needs to be within the designed over-range otherwise it can go beyond the dynamic range of the sub range ADC and causes the conversion error. The differential part of the offsets (offset mismatch) directly adds to the fine quantization range, causing misalignment with the residue FS range and therefore additional quantization error. To achieve less than one LSB INL the differential offset should be less than one LSB which is ~0.6mV.

Therefore, a calibration scheme is needed to remove the offset on the dual residues. One of the biggest sources of the offset is coming from the input FETs M_1 and M_2 in the AMP1 in the interstage as shown in figure 6.2. The following stage such as S_{12} and AMP_2 also create offset but their impact is much lower due to the gain of the AMP1.

There are different approaches to remove this offset, one way is to design the offset calibration circuit in AMP₁ as shown in figure 6.2, the resistive load of the AMP1 can be made tunable by a resistor DAC (in the form of ladder), however, the gain will be affected and a complicated resistor ladder needs to be design to keep the constant gain. Besides this, the FETs in the resistor adds more mismatch to the load and it has negative impact on the speed, offset and gain over PVT. Another way to perform offset calibration is to use auto-zeroing amplifier in the AMP₁ as shown in figure 6.3. The auto-zeroing clock can be controlled by introducing Φ_3 , so the C₀ stores the offset voltage right before the ZX tracking and sampling phase ($\Phi_2 = 1$), this offset will be removed when $\Phi_3 = 1$ and it is ready for the sub range ADC for conversion.

The advantage of using auto-zeroing architecture is the offset always tracks with PVT and it is automatically done in each sampling. This approach seems to perfectly fit our design but there are some drawbacks which pose great design challenge in our prototype. First before the AMP1 a pair of series switches need to be added on CDAC (where V_{Ap} and V_{An} is), those switches slows



Figure 6.2 Use resistor ladder to calibrate the offset in inter-stage



Figure 6.3 Use auto-zeroing amplifier to calibrate the offset in inter-stage

down the ZX tracking phase and more importantly, the charge injection and clock feedthrough becomes another source of offset which cannot be calibration because it is not being seen by the AMP1 in auto-zeroing phase. The C_0 also introduces excess attenuation of the amplified dual residues and makes the following stages non-idealities more pronounced.

The proposed offset calibration method is by adding a small array of calibration caps (as shown in figure 6.4) on the coarse CDACs and use it to inject offset correction charge to the $CDAC_b$ and $CDAC_a$ outputs during the fine quantizer tracking phase. As the goal is to remove the offset mismatch on the dual residues for sub range ADC, signal path a as selected in solid line and signal path b as selected in dashed line are treated equally in terms of offset calibration. As shown in the figure 6.4, path a and path b shared the same sub range ADC so it can be used to detect the offset of the other blocks in the two paths and eventually make the two paths each sees almost the same offset. As a result, the offset mismatch is minimized between the two paths.



Figure 6.4 Use added offset calibration DAC (Cal. DAC) to calibration inter-stage offset

Figure 6.5 shows the implementation calibration scheme of on signal path b (path a is not shown here since the procedure is identical). The simulated DC offset 3σ is 7.5mV in signal path a and b. The calibration DAC is designed to have a 5b cap array and it can provide +/-9mV correction range at the required sub-1mV resolution. The two paths are calibrated upon startup in two separate steps to remove the respective DC offset, the timing diagram of the calibration procedure is shown in figure 6.6.



Figure 6.5 Residue offset calibration illustrated for signal path b

6.3 Dual Residue Offset Calibration Procedure

The entire ADC is initialized when rstb = 0, it sets all the 10 calibration registers and its complement that store the calibration codes to 0, in the meantime, it connected the all the calibration capacitor top plates to low reference voltage V_{refl} . The dual residue offset calibration mode works in foreground and it is entered with CAL_{EN} = 1. Which shorts the ADC differential input to a common-mode voltage V1_{CM} and disables the clock goes to coarse ADC comparators.



Figure 6.6 Timing diagram of residue offset calibration for signal path b

The first rising edge of Φ_1 prepares the calibration clock generation by retiming the CAL_{EN} to remove the potential glitches when it is AND with Φ_2 .

Since the coarse comparators are disabled, the ADC enters dual residue tracking and sampling phase without going through coarse conversion. At the Φ_2 falling edge, the inter-stage T/H samples and holds the CDAC_b output and then the sub ADC enters conversion phase but with modified SAR logic as follows. The reference switches in fine ADC are all connected to v_{2N2} and the asynchronous loop is reprogrammed to clock the comparator once in each conversion.

The bottom-plate switches S_{2e} of CDAC_f sample the zero differential input, and then the top-plate switches S_{2t} connection from the common mode voltage $V2_{CM}$ to the RA output $v2_{N2}$. After a preset short delay, the sampled offset voltage appearing at the CDAC_f output and then is latched by the fine comparator cmp_f. At this time, the offset of signal path b is detected, and it can feedback the information back to calibration DAC. At the next $\Phi 2$ falling edge (i.e., ckcal<4> rising edge), the calibration DAC MSB register D'cal<4> and the complement are updated with the comparator output D_{cal}. At the following Φ_2 rising edge, the calibration DAC subtracts or adds one MSB from or to the sampled offset for D'cal<4> = "1" or "0". In two $\Phi 2$ cycles, D'cal<3> is updated upon the rising edge of ckcal<3>, and eventually, the 5b offset correction code for path b is resolved through this binary successive approximation process. This is then repeated to correct the offset in path a.

Chapter 7 Simulation and Measurement Results

7.1 Simulation Results

The prototype ADC is designed in a 45 nm Global Foundry SOI CMOS process, it occupies an active area of 0.07 mm^2 as shown in figure 7.1, the ADC is able to achieve up to a sampling rate of 400MS/s. The power consumption breakdown is shown in figure 7.2. The coarse SAR consumes most of the power because it needs to meet noise requirement of the entire ADC, with the help of gain from interstage of AMP1 and AMP2, the Fine SAR only needs to burn a fraction of coarse ADC power to resolve the LSBs. The total power is 3.16mW which corresponds to a Scherier FoM of 171.4dB. The Monte-Carlo simulation is performed including the thermal noise, random MOSFET and resistor mismatch at typical corner, the parasitics are back-annotated based on extracted result. It shows the comparator offset calibration improves the near Nyquist SNDR from 51.2dB to 56.1dB as shown in figure 7.3 (a)(b), and it further improves the SNDR to 63.4dB after removing the offset of the dual residues as shown in figure 7.3 (c), the SFDR of the ADC reaches 75.8dB and 88dB for near Nyquist and low frequency inputs (figure 7.3 (d)), respectively. The INL and DNL are shown in figure 7.4 and both are within 1.05LSB. Figure 7.5 shows the SFDR and SNDR variation are very small despite more than $\pm -25\%$ variation in the RA gain over 100°C temperature range, the differential offset which is process depend also shows very little variation. Figure 7.6 shows the SFDR and SNDR of ADC prototype vs. (a) input frequency with supply variation, sampling rate at 400MS/s, (b) sampling frequency.



Figure 7.1 ADC prototype layout



Figure 7.2 Power consumption breakdown (mW)



(a)



(b)



(c)



(d)

Figure 7.3 Typical-corner output spectra from Monte-Carlo simulations of the prototype ADC running at 400 MS/s with (a) Nyquist input before offset calibrations, (b) after comparator calibrations, (c) after residue offset calibrations, and (d) low frequency input after all calibrations. Device random mismatch and thermal noise are included in the simulations



Figure 7.4 Typical-corner DNL and INL from Monte-Carlo simulations of the prototype ADC after offset calibration











Figure 7.5 Temperature dependence of (a) the typical-corner SFDR and SNDR, (b) residue gain, and (c) residue offset from Monte-Carlo simulations. The foreground residue offset calibrations are simulated at 50°C



Figure 7.6 SFDR and SNDR of ADC prototype vs. (a) input frequency with supply variation, sampling rate at 400MS/s, (b) sampling frequency

7.2 Measurement Results

This prototype ADC employs the identical architecture as discussed in this Chapter 4 except the sub-ADC is implemented with 4b resolution SAR instead of 5b. It is designed and fabricated in a 45 nm Global Foundry SOI CMOS process and it occupies an active area of 0.04mm2 as shown in figure 7.7, it achieves 0.71-LSB INL, 0.72-LSB DNL, 58.2-dB SNDR, and 70.2-dB SFDR at 250MS/s as shown in figure 7.8 with total 2.7 mA drawn from a 1-V supply. The effect of offset calibration at Nyquist conversion is shown in figure 7.9. The performance dependences on input signal frequency, conversion rate, and input signal amplitude are shown in figure 7.10, respectively.



Figure 7.7 ADC prototype die photo



Figure 7.8 Measured DNL (a) and INL (b) of ADC prototype





(c)

Figure 7.9 Measured ADC spectrum with near Nyquist input before (a) and after (b) foreground offset calibration , and low input frequency after foreground offset calibration (c) with sampling rate 250MS/s



(a)



Figure 7.10 Measured ADC SNDR versus sampling frequency (a), input frequency (b) and input amplitude (c)

7.3 Summary

summarized the ADC prototypes performance. To compare FoM, the ADCs demonstrated in Table 3 and [7, 24] are designed in similar technology in 40nm and are considered the most relevant to the proposed 11b ADC with similar SNDR around 60dB, and not much different speeds in hundreds of MS/s. It is unfair to compare the simulated results directly with the measured counterparts but given one-bit ENOB reduction to account for silicon performance degradation, the resulted FoM = 171.4 - 6 = 165.4 dB for the prototype is still much better than the 155 dB Schreier FoM calculated for the latest dual-residue counterpart [24]. The lane speed is also faster (400MS/s vs. 200MS/s) than this counterpart that uses multistage flash sub-ADCs. The better overall performance can be ascribed to the use of power efficient SAR sub-ADCs and simple open-
loop RAs. Compared with [7] that uses power-efficient dynamic RA, this prototype does not exhibit definite advantage in the FoM. However, it avoids the postprocessing used in [7] for residue gain correction, which would have significantly worsened the FoM if implemented on chip as background calibration to track out the impact of PVT variations. In contrast, the prototype can further enhance the FoM using dynamic RAs without any concern of background calibration.

	The 11b ADC prototype *	The 10b ADC prototype **	Vecchi JSSC 2011 [24]	Verbruggen JSSC 2012
Residue(s)	Dual	Dual	Dual	Single
Sub-ADC	SAR	SAR	Flash	SAR
Process (nm)	40	40	40	40
Resolution (bit)	11	10	12	11
Speed (MS/s) (Lanes)	400	250	800 (4-way)	250 (2-way)
Full Scale (V _{ppd})	1.2	1.2	1.2	-
Supply (V)	1	1	1, 2.5	1.1
SNDR Nyquist (dB)	63.4	52.3	59	56
SNDR Peak (dB)	65.6	58.2	-	-
SFDR Nyquist(dB)	75.8	63	70.1	67
SFDR Peak	88.1	70	-	-
Power (mW)	3.16	2.7	155+	1.7
FoM Nyquist(dB)	171.4	159	155	164.7
FoM Peak (dB)	173.6	164.9	-	-
Area (mm ²)	0.07	0.04	0.88	0.07
Residue Amplifier	CML Open loop	CML Open loop	Opamp Closed loop	DA Open loop
Residue Gain Adjustment	No	No	No	Post Processing

Table 3 Pipelined ADC Performance Comparison

* Simulation results of 11b ADC prototype ** Measurement result of 10b ADC prototype + Including reference buffer power consumption

Chapter 8 Anti-Aliasing Low Pass Filter

8.1 Introduction

Baseband continuous-time low pass filter is a key building block in sampling system [37-40]. According to Nyquist sampling theorem, the sampling rate needs to be at least twice the maximum frequency component of the signal of interest. Otherwise, the higher than Nyquist frequency components may alias into the band of interest and degrade the system performance. To prevent this from happening, a low pass filter is usually placed in the front stage to provide enough attenuation of the unwanted signal before it feeds into ADC. This work will present two low pass filter designs targeting for this application.

8.2 Design of 6th Order Low Pass Inverse-Chebyshev Active-RC Filter

Active-RC low pass filters [37, 39-40] is a popular choice in low pass design due to its high linearity performance which requires high gain-bandwidth op-amp. For filter types with sharp transition band such as Chebyshev, inverse-Chebyshev and Elliptic filters, the gain-bandwidth requirements are even higher to maintain the high Q of the poles. Another potential issue in the design is the large passive component spread when low passband ripple and high stopband attenuation filter is designed. Capacitor spread is more critical as the area is usually limited by the smaller capacitor that can be realized accurately, too big capacitor spread sometime leads to unrealistic area consumption and becomes a bottleneck in the whole chip. This work presents a 6th

order low pass active-RC filter with tunable frequency from 1MHz to 10MHz [46]. The filter achieves zero capacitor spread by replacing derivative feedforward and derivative feedback capacitor with resistor [38]. A hybrid-compensated op-amp with push-pull output stage is also proposed to extend the gain-bandwidth without increasing power consumption. To compensate PVT variations, a low-power, fast convergency tuning circuit is designed to tackle PVT variations. The tuning circuit is based on digital delay locked loop reported in [47] but with a SAR controller to achieve fast tuning.

Usually there are two ways to build high order filter. The first way is to build from cascading several biquads together and it is relatively easy to design and tune but suffers from high passband sensitivity due to component variations. Another way is to design it based on passive ladder LC prototype which has low sensitivity to component variations [50]. The proposed filter topology of 6th order inverse-Chebyshev ladder prototype and the signal flow graph are shown in figure 8.1(a) and (b). The components are shown in Table 4.



64



Figure 8.1 The ladder prototype (a) and the signal-flow-graph of the ladder prototype (b)

Device	Parameters	Unit	Device	Parameters	Unit
C1	902.8	pF	L2	8.394	μH
C2	674.4	pF	L4	10.56	μH
C3	4.915	nF	L6	3.765	μH
C4	1.072	nF			
C5	3.27	nF			

Table 4 Device sizes of LC prototype as shown in figure 8.1(a)

As shown in figure 8.1 and Table 3, C2 and C4 create derivative feedforward and derivative feedback path. The table also shows they have large spread with respect to other capacitors and make the match among them very challenge. A method reported in [62] greatly improved the match among capacitors by replacing the capacitors with resistors with modified the SFG. And zero capacitor spread can be achieved by making all the integrators identical. By doing this the resistor spread may increase but it is often of less concern since resistor occupies less area.

It can be examined from figure 8.2(a-c) that the voltage on net X to Σ_1 , Σ_2 and Σ_3 can be express as

$$\Sigma_1 = V_X \frac{c_2}{c_1 + c_2} \tag{8.1}$$

$$\Sigma_2 = V_X \frac{c_2}{c_1 + c_2} \tag{8.2}$$

$$\Sigma_3 = V_X \frac{-sC_2^2}{c_1 + c_2} \tag{8.3}$$

This means those paths can be replaced by a transfer function which can be realized purely by resistor after considering derivative path and integration path together, this can be seen from figure 8.3, the derivative path on path a is replaced by a transfer function by combining path a and path b. Repeat these procedures on all the derivative paths, the modified SFG with zero capacitor spread by using the method mentioned above is shown in figure 8.4(a). Compared with the SFG shown in figure 8.1, the capacitor branch consists of C2 and C4 are replaced with resistors as shown in figure 8.4(b) where all transfer functions can be realized by using resistors.







Figure 8.2 Voltage on net X and its effect on (a) Σ_1 , (b) Σ_2 and (c) Σ_3



Figure 8.3 Combine path a and path b to a single path a+b





Figure 8.4 The modified signal-flow-graph of the ladder prototype (a), the schematic of the proposed 6^{th} order low pass filter (b)

The main challenge for active-RC filter is the operational amplifier design. Large gainbandwidth is required when filters designed with high Q poles. Usually, filters with sharp transition band and high stopband attenuation require high gain-bandwidth op-amp. Two stage op-amp is often used to achieve high gain and proper compensation method is needed to compensate the opamp to avoid stability problem. Traditional two-stage op-amp with Miller compensation may end up with extremely high power consumption to achieve the required gain-bandwidth. In this paper, a low power bandwidth extended is proposed to achieve high gain over a wide band with no extra power consumption. Push-pull stage is used to provide high drive strength with low static power consumption. The overall op-amp schematic is shown in figure 8.5. The first stage of the op-amp is a commonly used folded cascode stage consists of Mn1 to Mn3 and Mp1 to Mp2. An output stage with bias circuit reported in [41] achieves push-pull behavior with small die area consumption is used in the proposed op-amp. The second stage a push-pull stage consists of Mp3 and Mn4. Mbp and Mbn are used to bias the push-pull stage. Hybrid compensation is employed in the op-amp to save power while achieve high gain-bandwidth. Mc1 to Mc4 serves as common-mode feedback circuit.



Figure 8.5 The bandwidth extended op-amp with push-pull output stage

A fast compensation method for single end op-amp is proposed in [42]. In this paper it has been further exploit for the hybrid compensated fully differential op-amp. The bandwidth extension is achieved by splitting the compensation capacitor into two series capacitors with the same value labeled C in the figure 8.5. The bode diagram of the proposed op-amp and traditional op-amp is shown in figure 8.6.

Bode diagram of the proposed opamp



Figure 8.6 The bode diagram of proposed op-amp and traditional op-amp

As we can see in figure 8.6, traditional hybrid compensation op-amp has a classic 20dB/dec drop of gain over the frequency band after the dominant pole. The proposed op-amp extended the bandwidth over a decade without sacrificing too much phase margin. This bandwidth extension technique can be understood in an intuitive way. Ra is chosen to have smaller impedance compared to the impedance of C. Thus at low frequency, the signal will not see the whole Miller capacitor but go through Ra to an ac ground labeled as X and Y shown in the figure 8.5. Rb is chosen to be very large to have a high common-mode impedance seeing at node X and Y. At high frequency, however, the impedance of C becomes small compared to Ra, thus the signal will go through Miller capacitor and the gain has a sharp drop when the frequency approaching unity gain-bandwidth.

For integrated analog filters, a tuning circuit is necessary because of PVT variations. A tuning circuit based on digital delay lock loop is reported in [47]. In [47] an n bit counter is used

to switch the resistor array to adjust time constant. In this paper, a fast tuning circuit is proposed by using SAR controller. In the worst case n bit counter requires 2ⁿ cycles to finish the tuning process, but for an n bit SAR controller it only requires n cycles to finish the tuning. The diagram of the tuning circuit is shown in figure 8.7. The goal of the tuning circuit is to associate the RC time constant with an external reference. In the proposed tuning circuit, the external reference is set by the delay block. In the actual implementation, the delay block is simply a divide-by-2 circuit so the reference becomes the period of the clock signal which can be controlled very accurately. The rising time of the voltage at the input of comparator is related to RC constant. The closed-loop operation will bring two inputs of latch closer which means tuning is finished.



Figure 8.7 Simplified diagram of proposed fast tuning circuit

Table 5 Performance sumr	nary of the prop	posed 6 th order inve	rse-Chebyshev LPF
--------------------------	------------------	----------------------------------	-------------------

Process	0.13um CMOS	
Filter Type	6 th order inverse-Chebyshev LPF with zero capacitor spread	
Cutoff frequency tuning range	1MHz to 10MHz	
Power supply	1.5V	
1dB CP	13dBm	
THD	-80dB with 2V Vppd input	
Input-referred noise	60nV/sqrt(Hz)	
Current consumption	6.3mA	

8.3 Design of 5th Order Fully Differential CMOS Transconductance-C Low Pass Filter

As mentioned previously active-RC filter has superior linearity performance, however, for high frequency applications, open-loop transconductance-C filter [48] is often preferred. The key point is designing tunable high frequency transconductance-C filter is to maintain the other aspects of performance while providing required programmable cutoff frequency. The transconductance (gm) cell should provide good high frequency performance over the entire tuning band.

In this work, a widely-tunable transconductance-C low pass filter with cutoff frequency tunable from 25MHz to 135MHz is proposed and implemented [43-44]. The architecture of the filter is synthesized based on a 5th order low pass Butterworth ladder prototype as shown in figure 8.8(a). The active circuitry implementation can be built based on the SFG of the passive ladder. The fully differential architecture consists of gm cell is shown in figure 8.8(b).



Figure 8.8 The ladder prototype (a) and the active realization (b) of fully differential 5th order Butterworth filter

The cutoff frequency of low pass transconductance-C filter is proportional to the time constant given in eqs. 8.4.

$$f_c \propto \frac{g_m}{C} \tag{8.4}$$

where gm indicates the transcendence of the gm cell, C indicates the loading capacitance. As shown in the Figure 8.8, there are two ways to achieve the programmability of the filter. One way is called constant gm topology in which fixed gm cell is used and the cutoff frequency is tuned by switching capacitor array. Another way is to use constant C topology meaning the capacitor is fixed and the frequency tuning is achieved by tuning transconductance of the gm cell. Constant gm topology simplified the design of gm cell because only one gm cell is needed in each stage. However, constant C approach can often lead to optimal balance between power and noise [49].



Figure 8.9 Transconductance-C filter using (a) constant gm topology, (b) constant C topology

As clearly show in eqs. 8.4, if constant gm approach is used, the gm needs to be predesigned to satisfy the highest cutoff frequency requirement which implies a waste of power consumption when lowest cutoff frequency is selected. Another issue raised by constant gm method is it may lead to unnecessary large capacitor area. This can be examined by assuming the minimum capacitor value to be C_{\min} , which satisfy the highest frequency requirement from eqs. 8.8.

$$f_{highest} = \frac{g_{m_const}}{C_{\min}}$$
(8.5)

 g_{m_const} is the gm value predesigned to satisfy the largest cutoff frequency. The capacitor value needed for the lowest cutoff frequency would be

$$C_{\max} = \frac{f_{highest}}{f_{lowest}} C_{\min}$$
(8.6)

where $f_{highest}$ indicates the highest cutoff frequency f_{lowest} indicates the lowest cutoff frequency. It would be easy to see that large tuning range may lead to a waste of die area. This problem becomes severe when large capacitor spread exists because the minimum capacitor has to be realized accurately which posed a limitation of smallest overall capacitor area.

From the noise point of view, constant gm topology requires the filter to meet the noise budget at the highest frequency. This is because noise from the gm is constant which means the smallest capacitor determines the overall noise of the filter. Unlike constant gm topology, constant C topology experiences the same noise performance over the tuning band. To illustrate it clearly, the input referred noise of OTA cell is denoted as $\tilde{V}_{n_{-gm}}^2$ which satisfies the equation below,

$$\widetilde{V}_{n_{-}gm}^{2} \propto \frac{1}{g_{m}}$$
(8.7)

At high cutoff frequency gm value is high which means input referred noise is low which can be represented by $\tilde{V}_{n_{-}gm_{-}lo}^{2}$. The overall integrated noise is given by

$$\widetilde{V}_{n_overal\hbar}^2 = \int_0^{f_{hi}} \widetilde{V}_{n_gm_lo}^2$$
(8.8)

At low cutoff frequency gm value is low which means input referred noise is high which can be represented by $\tilde{V}_{n_{-}gm_{-}hi}^{2}$. The overall integrated noise is given by

$$\widetilde{V}_{n_overalD}^2 = \int_0^{f_{lo}} \widetilde{V}_{n_gm_hi}^2$$
(8.9)

Based on eqs. 8.4, $\tilde{V}_{n_{-}gm_{-}hi}^{2}$ and $\tilde{V}_{n_{-}gm_{-}lo}^{2}$ satisfies

$$\frac{\tilde{V}_{n_{gm}lo}^{2}}{\tilde{V}_{n_{gm}hi}^{2}} = \frac{g_{m_{hi}}}{g_{m_{lo}}}$$
(8.10)

Therefore, we can derive the following

$$\frac{\tilde{V}_{n_{-}gm_{-}lo}^{2}}{\tilde{V}_{n_{-}gm_{-}hi}^{2}} = \frac{f_{hi}}{f_{lo}}$$
(8.11)

Reexamining eqs. 8.8, 8.9 and 8.11 we find that overall integrated noise is the same. To illustrate this intuitively, at high cutoff frequency though we have small input-referred noise but the integration bandwidth is wide, at low cutoff frequency the integration bandwidth is narrow but we have large input-referred noise. Thus the overall noise performance is determined by load capacitor value which means it is constant by using constant C topology.

Based on the discussion above, constant C topology is used in this filter. In order to make the gm value tunable, binary weighted unit gm cells are adopted. Compared to variable gm cell, this approach can maintain good power and linearity balance while provide programmability. Since continuous cutoff frequency tuning is not required in this filter and linearity performance is not critical in transmitter path, the OTA design is relaxed. The overall OTA consists of three binary weighted gm cells is shown in figure 8.10. All the binary weighted gm cells consist of the same unit gm cell. Control signal is added to activate and deactivate the OTA, Gmf is fixed value and G_{m0} indicates the unit gm value. The corresponding gm value of the OTA is tunable from $G_{mf}+G_{m0}$ to $G_{mf}+7G_{m0}$.



Figure 8.10 Tunable transconductance cell topology

An ideal OTA should have infinite input and output impedance. Linearity of the OTA design is of another important concern. There are different ways to improve the linearity of the OTA, some of them adopted complicated linearization techniques to achieve good linearity. But for high frequency operation, the internal node impedance of the OTA should be kept as small as possible to avoid parasitic poles. A simple linearity improvement approach is to use source degeneration technique, but it is at the cost of increasing power consumption. Since the input and output swing of the filter does not need to be very large, a simple fully differential folded-cascode amplifier with common-mode feedback is used as the unit gm cell as shown in figure 8.11. The gm cell has large output impedance and low impedance internal nodes.



Figure 8.11 Schematic of unit gm cell

The switches shown in the schematic are used to switch on and off the unit gm cell. Switching off the unit gm cell is achieved by simply turning off the current sources of the main folded cascode amplifier and the common-mode feedback circuit. Another design consideration is the effect on pole position coming from parasitic load capacitance, the parasitic capacitances are relatively small compared to the load capacitance, thus switching on and off unit gm cells has negligible effect on pole positions.

The filter was fabricated in 0.13um CMOS process. Due to the 2.2V power supply thickoxide CMOS transistors are used to prevent any breakdown issues. The die photo of the 5th order low pass filter is shown in figure 8.12. The core of the filter occupies an area of 550um*550um.



Figure 8.12 Die photo of the 5th order low pass filter



Figure 8.13 Measured frequency response of the 5th order low pass filter

Figure 8.13 shows the measured frequency response of the filter with the cutoff frequency tuned from 23MHz to 135MHz. Figure 8.14 shows the measured IIP3 of the proposed filter is 5 dBm. The filter performance is summarized in Table 6.



Figure 8.14 Measured IIP3 of the 5th order low pass filter

Table 6 Performance summar	ry of 5 th order	low pass But	terworth prototype
	2		1 21

Process	0.13um CMOS
Filter Type	5 th order low pass Butterworth
Cutoff frequency tuning range	23-135MHz
IIP3	4.9 dBm
Power Supply	2.2V
Current Consumption	3mA at 18MHz cutoff frequency 25mA at 135MHz cutoff frequency
Area	550um*550um

Chapter 9 Conclusion and Future Work

9.1 Conclusion

This work extends the dual-residue architecture to use any sub-ADCs that can generate dual residues as reference for the succeeding sub-ADCs and to use any sub-ADCs that can take the dual residues as reference to terminate the pipeline. This extension allows use of efficient SAR sub-ADCs to remove the sub-ADC complexity and the RA linearity bottlenecks of the traditional parallel interpolation-based dual-residue ADCs. When small enough, the dual residues degenerate into the zero-crossing signals inherently available in multibit sub-ADCs, leading to much lower RA overhead. Small dual residues can be realized using a relatively high resolution 2b/cycle SAR sub-ADC for coarse quantization with little tradeoff in sub-ADC complexity and power efficiency. This results in a pipelined dual-residue SAR ADC architecture that preserves the SAR advantages of power efficiency and technology scalability using only ZX signals. The advantages are illustrated by design and comparison of an 11b pipelined two-step SAR to the state-of-the-art pipelined dual and single residue ADCs. To prevent aliasing for the sampling system, a 6th order active-RC low pass filter and a 5th order transconductance-C low pass filter have been discussed, the simulation and measurement results are shown to demonstrate the function and performance of the prototypes.

9.2 Future Work

The sub ADC can be designed with time domain interpolation quantizer, in general time domain design consist even more digital circuits which can benefit from technology scaling. The time step usually suffers from PVT variation but the proposed interpolation method can largely maintain the performance as long as the variation is matched which can be achieved by careful layout and properly sized transistor. The dual residues from coarse SAR can be converted into time domain by voltage-to-time converter (VTC) and their timing of the dual residues can be detected by a counter which can be implemented by a single TDC efficiently. Since only the relative timing is critical to calculate the zero crossing location, the end result is immune to the output timing of VTC and the time step variation in TDC.

Bibliography

- [1] C. P. Hurrell, et al., "An 18b 12.5 MS/s ADC with 93 dB SNR," *IEEE J. of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 45, no. 12 pp. 2647-2654, Dec. 2010.
- [2] H. H. Boo, D. S. Boning and H.-S. Lee, "A 12b 250 MS/s pipelined ADC with virtual ground reference buffers", *IEEE J. Solid State Circuits*, vol. 50, no. 12, pp. 2912-2921, Dec. 2015.
- [3] K. Gulati et al., "A highly integrated CMOS analog baseband transceiver with 180 MSPS 13bit pipelined CMOS ADC and dual 12-bit DACs", *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 41, no. 8, pp. 1856-1866, Aug. 2006.
- [4] K. Yoshioka et al., "A 0.7V 12b 160 MS/s 12.8 fJ/conv-step pipelined-SAR ADC in 28 nm CMOS with digital amplifier technique", *IEEE Int. Solid-State Circuits Conf. (ISSCC) Dig. Tech. Papers*, pp. 478-479, Feb. 2017.
- [5] C. C. Lee and M. P. Flynn, "A SAR-assisted two-stage pipeline ADC," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, vol.46, no.4, pp.859-869, Apr. 2011.
- [6] R. Sehgal, F. van der Goes and K. Bult, "A 13mW 64dB SNDR 280MS/s pipelined ADC using linearized open-loop class-AB amplifiers", Proc. 43rd IEEE Eur. Solid State Circuits Conf. (ESSCIRC), pp. 131-134, Sep. 2017.

- [7] B. Verbruggen, M. Iriguchi, and J. Craninckx, "A 1.7 mW 11b 250 MS/s 2-Times Interleaved Fully Dynamic Pipelined SAR ADC in 40 nm Digital CMOS," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 47, no. 12, pp. 2880-2887, Dec. 2012.
- [8] Y. Zhou and Y. Chiu, "Digital calibration of inter-stage nonlinear errors in pipelined SAR ADCs," Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Processing, vol.82, pp.533-542, 2015
- [9] J. Kuppambatti and P. R. Kinget, "Current Reference Pre-Charging Techniques for Low-Power Zero-Crossing Pipeline-SAR ADCs," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 683-694, Mar. 2014.
- [10] Y. Lim and M. P. Flynn, "A 1 mW 71.5 dB SNDR 50 MS/s 13 bit Fully Differential Ring Amplifier Based SAR-Assisted Pipeline ADC," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 50, no. 12, pp. 2901-2911, Dec. 2015.
- [11] Zhu, Y., Chan, C.-H., U, S.-P., & Martins, R. P. (2016). An 11b 450 MS/s Three-Way Time-Interleaved Subranging Pipelined-SAR ADC in 65 nm CMOS. *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, 51(5), 1223-1234.
- [12] W. Yang, D. Kelly, L. Mehr, M. T. Sayuk and L. Singer, "A 3-V 340-mW 14-b 75-M sample/s CMOS ADC with 85-dB SFDR at Nyquist input", *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 36, no. 12, pp. 1931-1936, Dec. 2001.
- [13] B. G. Lee, B. M. Min, G. Manganaro and J. W. Valvano, "A 14-b 100-MS/s pipelined ADC with a merged SHA and first MDAC", *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 43, no. 12, pp. 2613-2619, Dec. 2008.
- [14] H. Huang, H. Xu, B. Elies, and Y. Chiu, "A Non-Interleaved 12-b 330-MS/s Pipelined-SAR ADC With PVT-Stabilized Dynamic Amplifier Achieving Sub-1-dB SNDR Variation," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 52, no. 12, pp. 3235-3247, Dec. 2017.

- [15] M. Zhang, K. Noh, X. Fan, and E. Sanchez-Sinencio, "A 0.8–1.2 V 10–50 MS/s 13-bit Subranging Pipelined-SAR ADC Using a Temperature Insensitive Time-Based Amplifier," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 52, no. 11, pp. 2991-3005, Nov. 2017.
- [16] L. Kull, et al., "A 10 bit 1.5GS/s Pipelined-SAR ADC with Background Second-Stage Common-Mode Regulation and Offset Calibration in 14nm CMOS FinFET," *IEEE ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, pp. 474-476, Feb. 2017.
- [17] E. Martens, "A 69-dB SNDR 300-MS/s Two-Time Interleaved Pipelined SAR ADC in 16nm CMOS FinFET With Capacitive Reference Stabilization," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol.53, no.4, pp.1161-1171, Apr. 2018
- [18]C. Wu, and J. Yuan, "A 12-Bit, 300-MS/s Single-Channel Pipelined-SAR ADC With an Open-Loop MDAC," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, vol. 54, 2019.
- [19] C.-Y. Lin and T.-C. Lee, "A 12-bit 210-MS/s 2-times interleaved pipelined-SAR ADC with a passive residue transfer technique", *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I Reg. Papers*, vol. 63, no. 7, pp. 929-938, Jul. 2016.
- [20] T. Jiang, W. Liu, F. Y. Zhong, C. Zhong, K. Hu and P. Y. Chiang, "A single-channel 1.25-GS/s 6-bit 6.08-mW asynchronous successive-approximation ADC with improved feedback delay in 40-nm CMOS", *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 47, no. 10, pp. 2444-2453, Oct. 2012.
- [21] V. Tripathi and B. Murmann, "A 160 MS/s 11.1 mW single-channel pipelined SAR ADC with 68.3 dB SNDR", *Proc. IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conf.*, pp. 1-4, Sep. 2014.
- [22] Y. Zhu, C.-H. Chan, S.-W. Sin, S.-P. U and R. P. Martins, "A 34fJ 10b 500 MS/s partialinterleaving pipelined SAR ADC", Proc. Symp. VLSI Circuits (VLSIC), pp. 90-91, Jun. 2012.

- [23] C. Mangelsdorf, et al., "A Two-Residue Architecture for Multistage ADCs," IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC) Dig. Tech. Papers, pp. 64-65. Feb. 1993.
- [24] D. Vecchi, J. Mulder, F. M. L. van der Goes, J. R. Westra, E. Ayranci, C. M. Ward, J. Wan, and K. Bult, "An 800MS/s Dual-Residue Pipeline ADC in 40 nm CMOS," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 46, no. 12 pp. 2834-2844, Dec. 2011
- [25] J. K. Fiorenza, T. Sepke, P. Holloway, C. G. Sodini, and H.-S. Lee, "Comparator-Based Switched-Capacitor Circuits for Scaled CMOS Technologies," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 41, no. 12, pp. 2658-2668, Dec. 2006.
- [26] B. Hershberg, S. Weaver, K. Sobue, S. Takeuchi, K. Hamashita, and Un-Ku Moon, "Ring Amplifiers for Switched Capacitor Circuits," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 47, no. 12, pp. 2928-2942, Dec. 2012.
- [27] H. Pan, X. Jin, and C.-J. Hsu, "Pipelined Interpolating Sub-Ranging SAR Analog-to-Digital Converter," US Patent No.: 9,356,616 B1, May 31, 2016.
- [28] Pan, H. (2019). A/D Converter Fundamentals and Trends. SSCS Tutorials in Solid-State Circuits - IC Design Insights from Selected Presentations at CICC 2017, Chapter 08, (pp. 376), Mar. 2019.
- [29] X. Jin, H. Pan and F. F. Dai, "A Dual-Residue Pipelined SAR ADC Using Only Zero-Crossing Signals", Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Processing., 2021 (currently under minor revision)
- [30] H. Pan and A. Abidi, "Signal Folding in A/D Converters," IEEE TCAS I: Fundamental Theory and Applications, vol. 51, pp. 3-14, Jan. 2004.

- [31] C.-H. Chan, Y. Zhu, W.-H. Zhang, S-P. U and R. P. Martins. "A Two-Way Interleaved 7-b 2.4-GS/s 1-Then-2 2 b/Cycle SAR ADC with Background Offset Calibration". *IEEE Journal* of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 53, pp. 850-860, Jan 2018.
- [32] Z. Su, H. Wang, H. Zhao, Z. Chen, Y. Wang and F. F. Dai. "A 280MS/s 12b SAR-Assisted Hybrid ADC with Time Domain Sub-Range Quantizer in 45nm CMOS". *IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC)*, pp. 1-4, 2019.
- [33] B.P. Ginsburg, A.P. Chandrakasan, "500-MS/s 5-bit ADC in 65-nm CMOS With Split Capacitor Array DAC", *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol.42, no.4 pp.739-747, Apr. 2007.
- [34] D. Schinkel, E. Mensink, E. Klumperink, E.V. Tuijl, B. Nauta, "A Double-Tail Latch-Type Voltage Sense Amplifier with 18ps Setup+Hold Time", *IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC) Dig. Tech. Papers*, pp. 314-605, Feb. 2007.
- [35] Hao Xu and Asad A. Abidi, "Analysis and Design of Regenerative Comparators for Low Offset and Noise," IEEE TRANSACTIONS ON CIRCUITS AND SYSTEMS–I: Regular papers, vol. 66, no. 8, pp 2817 – 2830, Aug. 2019.
- [36] A. M. Abo and P. R. Gary, "A 1.5-V 10-bit 14.3-MS/s CMOS pipeline analog-to-digital converter", *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 599-606, May 1999.
- [37] A. Vasilopoulos, G. Vitzilaios, G. Theodoratos, and T. Papananos, "A low-power wideband reconfigurable integrated active-RC filter with 72dB SFDR", *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuit*, vol. 41, pp. 1997-2008, Sep. 2006.
- [38] Behzad Saeidi "A fourth order elliptic low-pass filter with wide Range of programmable bandwidth, using four identical integrators", Proc. IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conf, 2007.

- [39] S. Kousai, M. Hamada, R. Ito, and T. Itakura, "A 19.7MHz, fifth-order active-RC Chebyshev LPF for draft IEEE802.11n with automatic quality-factor tuning scheme," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 42, pp. 2326-2337, Nov. 2007
- [40] V. Giannini, J. Craninckx, S. D'Amico, and A. Baschirotto, "Flexible baseband analog circuits for software-defined ratio front-ends", *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuit*, vol. 42, pp. 1501-1512, Jul. 2007.
- [41] Ron Hogervorst and Johan Huijsing, "Design of low-voltage, low-power operational amplifier cells", *Springer; 1 edition*. Oct. 1996
- [42] National Semiconductor, "Fast compensation extends power bandwidth" National Semiconductor Linear Brief 4 Apr. 1969
- [43] J. Yu, F. Zhao, J. Cali, F. Dai, D. Ma, X. Geng, Y. Jin, Y. Yao, X. Jin, J. D. Irwin and R. C. Jaeger, "An X-Band Radar Transceiver MMIC with Bandwidth Reduction in 0.13µm SiGe Technology," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 49, no. 9, pp. 1905 1915, Sept. 2014
- [44] J. Yu, J. Cali, F. Zhao, F. F. Dai, X. Jin, M. Pukish, Y. Jin, Z. Hubbard, J. D. Irwin, R. C. Jaeger and A. Aklian, "A Direct Digital Synthesis Based Chirp Radar Transmitter in 0.13 μm SiGe Technology," IEEE Bipolar / BiCMOS Circuits and Technology Meeting (BCTM), Bordeaux, France, Oct. 2013
- [45] X. Jin and F. F. Dai, "A 100MHz fifth-order low-pass gm-C filter using folded stages," 38th Annual Conference on IEEE Industrial Electronics Society (IECON), pp. 6234-6239, Montreal, Canada, Oct. 2012
- [46] X. Jin and F. F. Dai, "A 6th Order Zero Capacitor Spread 1MHz 10MHz Tunable CMOS Active-RC Low Pass Filter with Fast Tuning Scheme," IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS), pp. 1187-1190, Seoul Korea, May, 2012

- [47] Takashi Oshima et al, "Novel automatic tuning method of RC filters using a digital-DLL technique", *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuit*, vol. 39, no. 11, Nov. 2004.
- [48] W. Li, Y. Huang and Z. Hong "70-280MHz 21 mW 53dB SFDR Gm-C filter", *Electron Lett.*, vol. 46 no. 17, Aug. 2010
- [49] Shanthi Pavan, Yannis P. Tsividis and Krishnaswamy Nagaraj., "Widely Programmable High-Frequency Continuous-Time Filters in Digital CMOS Technology", *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuit*, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 503-511, Apr. 2000.
- [50] R. Schaumann, H. Xiao and M. E. V. Valkenburg, Design of Analog Filters. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2011